THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Ralph King Anderson, III, Administrative Law Judge

Appellant Case No. 2014-000847

Preservation Society of Charleston, Historic Charleston Foundation, Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Association, South Carolina Coastal Conservation League, Charlestowne Neighborhood Association, Charleston Chapter of the Surfrider Foundation, and Charleston Communities for Cruise Control Appellants,

vs.

South Carolina State Ports Authority and South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control..... Respondents.

APPELLANTS' SECOND AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

J. Blanding Holman IV

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. After finding that the Community Groups' had properly alleged standing, did the Administrative Law Court ("ALC") err in changing course and ordering summary judgment for lack of standing where affidavits and documentary evidence showed that the groups' members were "affected persons" entitled to request a Contested Case pursuant S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(F)?
 - A. Did the ALC err in entering summary judgment that the Community Groups' members who live and work near a proposed \$35 million cruise terminal in downtown Charleston were not "affected persons" entitled, under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1060(F), to seek administrative review of DHEC's permitting decision authorizing the terminal?
 - B. Did the ALC err in entering summary judgment on the basis that the Community Groups' members were not entitled to request administrative review of DHEC's permitting decision authorizing the proposed cruise terminal because they lacked Article III Constitutional Standing?
 - C. Did the ALC err in entering summary judgment on the basis that the Community Groups lacked Public Importance Standing?
 - D. Did the ALC err in entering summary judgment on the basis that, even if the Community Groups had members with standing, the groups lacked Associational Standing?
- II. Did the ALC err in refusing to vacate the Ports Authority's Critical Area Permit and Coastal Zone Certification that lacks a required Section 401 Water Quality Certification?
- III. Did the ALC err in deeming discovery closed on May 20, 2013 and prohibiting Community Groups from conducting discovery after that date?
- IV. Did the ALC err in sanctioning the Community Groups for filing a motion interpreting a provision that states that the DHEC Board "must" conduct a review conference within 60 days as setting forth a mandatory, not discretionary duty?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arise from the administrative review of a Critical Area Permit and Coastal Zone Consistency Certification ("CAP-CZCC") issued by the Department of Health and Environmental Control's ("DHEC") Office of Ocean and Coastal Resource

Management on December 18, 2012 to the South Carolina State Ports Authority (“SPA”) for construction of a new cruise terminal in downtown Charleston. The Community Groups, Appellants here, requested a review of the CAP and CZCC before the DHEC Board on January 2, 2013, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(F). On January 11, 2013, the Board sent written notice to the Community Groups that it was declining to review the permit and certification.

On February 11, 2013, the Community Groups petitioned for a contested case before the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(F). On February 27, 2013, the Groups moved the ALC to remand the matter back to the DHEC Board to conduct Board review pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(F). The ALC denied the Community Groups motion to remand on May 3, 2013. On July 1, 2013, SPA moved the ALC to sanction the Community Groups for having filed the motion to remand.

Also on July 1, 2013, SPA also filed a motion to dismiss the contested case for lack of standing. The ALC denied SPA’s motion to dismiss on December 2, 2013. SPA filed a motion for summary judgment on the same grounds on December 27, 2013.

On September 18, 2013, the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina voided a federal authorization granted by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for SPA’s new cruise terminal. As a result, the Community Groups filed a motion with the ALC on November 1, 2013 to vacate SPA’s state permit and certification as incomplete and inconsistent with state regulations. The ALC denied the Community Groups’ Motion to Vacate on December 20, 2013.

On December 23, 2013, the Community Groups filed a motion to expand discovery, which was denied on March 3, 2014. The Community Groups filed a motion to reconsider the ALC's order denying expanded discovery on March 13, 2014.

On March 3, 2014, the ALC entered an order sanctioning the Community Groups for having filed their February, 2013 motion to remand. The Community Groups filed a motion to reconsider the ALC's grant of sanctions on March 13, 2014. On April 11, 2014, the ALC rejected that motion for reconsideration but issued an amended order on sanctions. On the same day, the ALC granted SPA's summary judgment motion on standing. The ALC's order granting summary judgment found all other pending motions, including the motions regarding discovery, moot. The Community Groups timely appealed to this Court on April 21, 2014.

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal of several Administrative Law Court ("ALC") orders removing the rights of citizens to challenge the legality of permits issued for a proposed large cruise ship terminal in downtown Charleston. The \$35 million, multi-acre terminal facility that the S.C. State Ports Authority ("SPA") proposes to construct is intended and engineered to service much larger cruise ships than have home-based in Charleston in the past. These larger ships, with over 4,000 persons aboard, pollute more than their predecessors and would each day funnel hundreds of vehicles including tractor trailers and thousands of passengers into a cramped area next to historic neighborhoods where traffic congestion and air pollution already pose problems.

The ALC found that neighbors who live directly adjacent to the proposed terminal lacked standing as "affected persons" entitled to participate in the administrative review

of permits issued for the terminal by the S.C. Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”). *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60. The ALC made its ruling on summary judgment, even though the Community Groups have presented sworn testimony detailing significant negative effects to neighboring citizens – including a woman who has experienced difficulty breathing and sore throat due to diesel soot that flows from an idling cruise ship to her nearby residence. According to the ALC, such evidence was irrelevant to showing “affected person” standing because it was not accompanied by expert medical testimony and because a lone SPA affidavit – in conflict with numerous internal SPA documents ignored by the ALC – claimed that the proposed \$35 million cruise terminal designed for much larger ships would not change anything over the status quo. The entry of summary judgment based on a movant’s counter-intuitive and self-serving affidavit in the face of multiple countervailing affidavits and SPA’s own documents showing that the new terminal was intended to host larger and more polluting cruise ships was clear, reversible error. The ALC’s result runs contrary to the General Assembly’s intent in providing that all “affected persons” can contest DHEC’s permitting decisions administratively. Under the ALC’s legal reasoning, citizens would have an easier time getting before the ALC to contest a corner store’s liquor license than they would getting a hearing on a DHEC permit that allows their homes to be enveloped in pollution.

Prior to deciding that the Community Groups had no right to participate in the administrative process, the ALC refused to vacate and remand SPA’s permit even though it lacks a major, legally-required component called a Section 401 Water Quality Certification. DHEC assumed that SPA’s project needed no such certification review

because SPA had obtained a general federal permit for its project, and that general permit had previously received separate certification from DHEC. However, SPA's federal authorization was thrown out in federal court after several Community Groups challenged it as unlawful. Once this general permit's certification was removed, the ALC should have instructed DHEC to go back and consider whether SPA's project could be certified on an individual basis. Instead the ALC committed several legal errors on the path to upholding an authorization document issued on unlawful process and without proper consideration of the project's impacts and options for reducing them as required by South Carolina law.

Consistent with a theme, the ALC also improperly removed the Community Groups' discovery rights. Throughout 2013, the parties and the ALC itself acted with the understanding that discovery was ongoing. In early 2014, however, the ALC decided that discovery had "closed" back in May 2013, before the parties had even submitted witness lists or produced hardly any documents whatsoever. Refusing to allow depositions even though SPA had only begun to produce thousands and thousands of pages of documents *after* the retroactively imposed deadline worked an obvious injustice on the Community Groups, which had, like SPA and the ALC itself, carried on for months as though discovery were still open.

Finally, the ALC's treatment of citizens who questioned SPA's permit reached its apotheosis in a remarkable and unjustified sanctions order. At base, the ALC sanctioned the Community Groups for contending that S.C. Code § 44-1-60's requirement that the DHEC Board "must" hold Final Review Conferences when requested constitutes a mandatory requirement rather than a discretionary one. The statutory provision in

question is at best ambiguous and no court had ever fixed its meaning, one way or the other. The Community Groups were entitled to argue for the provision's mandatory nature and the ALC's ordering of sanctions for that contention was an abuse of discretion and should be reversed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals will modify or reverse a finding of the Administrative Law Court if the finding is (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions, (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency, (c) made upon unlawful procedure, (d) affected by other error of law, (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, or (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B).

A judge's decision to apply sanctions under the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act "sounds in equity and rather than at law." *Holmes v. East Cooper Community Hosp., Inc.*, 408 S.C. 138, 167, 758 S.E.2d 483, 499 (S.C. 2014) "Therefore, an appellate court must review the findings of fact with respect to the decision to grant sanctions under the [Act] by 'taking its own view of the evidence.'" *Id.* The appellate court reviews the decision to grant sanctions on "its own view of the preponderance of the evidence." *Father v. South Carolina Dept. of Social Services*, 353 S.C. 254, 261, 578 S.E.2d 11, 14 (2003). If the appellate court agrees with the sanctioning court's view of the evidence, the appellate court reviews the decision to grant sanctions and the terms of the sanctions for an abuse of discretion. *Holmes*, 408 S.C. at 167, 758 S.E.2d at 499; *Father*, 353 S.C. at 261, 578 S.E.2d at 14. "An abuse of

discretion occurs where the decision is controlled by an error of law or is based on unsupported factual conclusions.” *Father*, 353 S.C. at 261, 578 S.E.2d at 14.

BACKGROUND

I. Facts

A. The Purpose of SPA’s Proposed New Cruise Terminal

In late 2010, SPA announced plans to build a \$35 million, 100,000 square foot cruise ship terminal in Charleston’s downtown old and historic district. SPA sought to build a new terminal because its existing cruise terminal, built in 1973, was, in SPA’s words, “desolate,” “undistinguished,” “out-of-date,” and “unattractive.” Exhibit A to Pet’rs’ Resp. to Mot. for Summ. J. for Lack of Standing, SCPA 009738, SCPA 009740. More importantly, with only 30,216 square feet total, the existing facility does not meet federal homeland security requirements for safely home-basing a vessels with 2,500 passengers or more aboard. *id.* at SCPA 007504.

Beyond enabling SPA to meet federal security requirements, upgrading to a brand new, larger terminal is intended to allow SPA to expand its cruise business. SPA informed cruise lines that it was “very very mindful of the practical operational opportunities [SPA] can unlock” with an updated terminal, *id.* at SCPA 006477, predicting that it would “remake” Charleston’s cruise business, *id.* at SCPA 008462, provide “tremendous opportunity” to the Ports Authority’s cruise clients, *id.* at SCPA 007021, and “accommodate the growing demands of the cruise industry,” *id.* at SCPA 007254. *See also id.* at SCPA 009363 (SPA: Charleston is a “very attractive destination for cruise ships from all over the world”; updated terminal needed “to meet security requirements and cruise ship customer expectations”).

The “growing demands of the cruise industry” had become more pressing in 2010, when SPA first began to home-base a large cruise ship – the 2,500 passenger Carnival *Fantasy* – at its terminal on a year-round basis. *Id.* at SCPA 007254, SCPA 007021. Home basing a vessel, rather than serving as a port of call, requires that thousands of passengers, as well as their luggage, supplies and waste, be loaded and unloaded at every home-base “turn.” Given the existing terminal’s small size and antiquated facilities, home basing the *Fantasy* there is “exceptionally cumbersome”, *id.* at SCPA 006793, with operations taking place in tents due to a lack of indoor space, *id.* at SCPA 007124. SPA repeatedly touted the new terminal to Carnival in seeking a new contract for continued *Fantasy* home-basing. *Id.* at 006754. The “urgent need to improve our passenger terminal facilities” was “very clear” to SPA. *Id.* at SCPA 009327.

SPA targeted an abandoned warehouse, Building 322, as the site for its new cruise terminal. With 108,000 square feet under one roof, Building 322 is more than three times larger than the existing terminal, *id.* at SCPA 007496, and would “provide relief to the current security operational staffing requirements,” *id.* at SCPA 007257. Making “necessary improvements” to the existing terminal was a “much less desirable option,” *id.* at SCPA 009328, and SPA repeatedly emphasized that it “need[s] the new terminal for our cruise ship business,” *id.* at SCPA 004294. Asked if its proposed terminal investments would lead to increased cruise activity, SPA responded: “you can be sure we wouldn’t pursue the business if it didn’t make economic sense.” *id.* at SCPA 009754.

As noted earlier, the vessel home-based at SPA’s existing terminal, the *Fantasy*, has 2,500 passengers aboard. SPA’s proposed terminal, by contrast, is designed to home base a ship with 3,500 passengers visiting twice a week. *id.* at SCPA 007256; *see also id.*

at SCPA 009317 (new terminal “designed to handle ships up to 3,500 passengers”), *id.* at SCPA 008460 (new terminal designed for 3,430 passenger-ship capacity). In fact, the proposed terminal is sized accommodate a vessel 1,100 feet length overall (“LOA”), with a 160-foot beam, *id.* at SCPA 007493, the dimensions of vessels with 4,100 passengers.¹ Existing mooring and bollard systems would be upgraded to accommodate the larger vessels, *id.* at SCPA 007330-31; SCPA 007271. Each home base visit of a 3,450 passenger vessel would bring up to 1,600 cars, 16 trucks, 32 buses, 90 taxis, and 20 tractor-trailers into the historic downtown area. *Id.* at SCPA 007507. The traffic count for the existing 2,500 passenger vessel that calls at SPA’s existing terminal is, according to SPA, “considerably lower.” *Id.* at SCPA 007461.

B. The Impacts of Cruise Ship Home Basing Operations

Cruise ships rely on marine engines that burn high sulfur diesel fuel and produce large amounts of sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxide, and particulate matter, in addition to carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, and hydrocarbons. Claudia Copeland, Cong. Research Serv., RL32450, Cruise Ship Pollution: Background, Laws and Regulations, and Key Issues 6 (2008) (Exhibit A to Zimmerman Affid.) (Exhibit J to Pet’rs’ Resp. to Mot. for Summ. J. for Lack of Standing.) Diesel exhaust is classified as a likely human carcinogen, and emissions from vessels contribute to adverse health effects associated with ambient concentrations of particulate matter and visibility, haze, and acid deposition. *Id.*; *see also* Control of Emissions From New Marine Compression-Ignition

¹ Compare Conquest-class cruise ship, http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Conquest-class_cruise_ship (last visited Oct. 13, 2014) (952 foot length overall, 116 foot beam, 2,974 passenger capacity) with *Norwegian Epic*, http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Norwegian_Epic (last visited Oct. 13, 2014) (1081 foot length overall, 133 foot beam, 4100 passenger capacity).

Engines at or Above 30 Liters per Cylinder, 75 Fed. Reg. 22,896, 22,903-09 (April 30, 2010) (describing the health and environmental impacts of marine diesel exhaust); James J. Corbett, Clearing the Air: Would Shoreside Power Reduce Air Pollution Emissions from Cruise Ships Calling on the Port of Charleston, SC? 9 (2013) (Exhibit C to Zimmerman Affid.) (“Marine engines combusting petroleum fuels emit air pollutants that may lead to, or exacerbate, health problems like asthma, bronchitis, and lung cancer.”). Air pollution from cruise ships is not limited to what is produced by on-board engines, however. Air pollution is caused by the cars and trucks that take persons, supplies, and waste to and from the cruise home-basing operation, and the increased traffic they cause. Zimmerman Affid. ¶ 10.

Substantial evidence was submitted documenting the impacts of existing and expanded cruise ship pollution and operations on individual members of the Community Groups in this case. For example, Tommie Robertson, a member of the South Carolina Coastal Conservation League who lives near the existing terminal but even closer to where the proposed terminal would be built, submitted an affidavit documenting serious impacts from cruise operations. Robertson Affid. ¶¶ 1, 2 (Exhibit H to Pet’rs’ Resp. to Mot. for Summ. J. for Lack of Standing). She has repeatedly observed thick smoke being emitted from the Carnival *Fantasy* docked at SPA’s facility and watched that soot come towards her home; upon breathing the pollution, her “throat immediately began to hurt and [she] was forced to retreat indoors.” Robertson Affid. ¶ 6. Ms. Robertson testified that her difficulty breathing and sore throat will only be exacerbated by prolonged exposure and increased activity, and that she reasonably fears the impacts of this pollution on her health. Robertson Affid. ¶ 8. Another neighbor, Stephen F. Gates,

testified that he fears “the real and substantial risks posed by this soot and additional air emissions on my health, on the value of my property, and on the historic integrity of my neighborhood and the historic district of Charleston on the whole, particularly if cruise ship operations are increased and expanded as a result of the permit at issue in this case.” Gates Affid. ¶ 5 (Exhibit I to Pet’rs’ Resp. to Mot. for Summ. J. for Lack of Standing). And Christina Dodd, another neighboring resident, testified that she finds “oily soot” in and on her home, and that she is “obviously very concerned about what this residue from burned sulphur-heavy fuel is doing to my lungs and overall health, as I am breathing this pollution both inside and outside of my home.” Dodd Affid. ¶ 3 (Exhibit F to Pet’rs’ Resp. to Mot. for Summ. J. for Lack of Standing).

Beyond air pollution impacts, Mr. Gates also testified that the traffic the Carnival *Fantasy* added to the already busy streets near the terminal has made it “impractical to go about [his] daily activities when the cruise ships are in town,” because streets become gridlocked, causing what would normally be a five minute trip to take forty-five minutes. Gates Affid. ¶ 4. Mr. Gates also notes that the “Charlestowne Neighborhood contains much of the original walled city of Charleston, including numerous properties that are listed on the National Register and residential National Historic Landmarks,” and that the oily soot deposits from the cruise ships, as well as their unprecedented and outsized modern forms, have degraded this area’s historic integrity. Gates Affid. ¶ 2, 3.

Numerous residents testified about how cruise operations diminish downtown Charleston’s historic integrity and value and their ability to enjoy it. Even the 2,500 passenger *Fantasy* looms over the historic downtown area, with smokestacks rising high above the city’s height restrictions and eclipsing the colonial-era church steeples that

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