THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge
Case No. 13-ALJ-07-0056-CC
Appellate Case No. 2014-000847

Supreme Court Case No. 2018-000137

RECEIVED

NOV 30 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Preservation Society of Charleston, Historic Charleston Foundation,
Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Association, South Carolina
Coastal Conservation League, Charlestowne Neighborhood Association,
Charleston Chapter of the Surfrider Foundation, and Charleston
Communities for Cruise Control Petitioners,

vs.

South Carolina State Ports Authority and South Carolina Department of

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

³ It also should be noted that, without a single expert affidavit, Petitioners tried to connect allegations of *present-day* health problems resulting from existing cruise operations to *future* exacerbations from the shift of cruise operations 600 yards to the north through the submission of generalized information concerning health issues that were wholly unconnected to the Cruise Terminal. Contrary to Petitioners' assertions, this was insufficient to meet their burden under Rule 56(e), SCRCPP (i.e., "[s]upporting and opposing affidavits shall ... set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein").

Adver. Comm'n, 432 U.S. 333, 343, 97 S.Ct. 2434, 2441 (1977)). Simply put, the nature of the claims as framed by Petitioners require participation of their individual members. See Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490 (1975) (denying associational standing because individualized proof was required). Here, none of the alleged injuries identified by Petitioners have anything to do with or derive from the respective affiants' membership in the organizations. Warth, at 511 ("[T]he association may assert the rights of its members, at least so long as the challenged infractions adversely affect its members' associational ties."). In essence, Petitioners are critical of the Opinion's application of the associational standing standard to their alleged injuries despite the fact that Petitioners chose to bring this action as associations, rather than individually. But the Court of Appeals and this Court are constrained to evaluating the claims Petitioners' actually advanced, not the claims they now wish they had advanced.

For the reasons listed herein, the Petitioners lacked standing by asserting "only generalized grievance suffered by the public as a whole."

III. The two-issue rule precludes this Court's consideration of the standing challenge because the Petitioners failed to seek this Court's review of the adverse "causation" and "redressability" holdings of the ALC, rendering those issues the law of the case.

In order to satisfy Constitutional standing, a plaintiff must show all three elements of the test throughout the litigation: "[f]irst, the plaintiff must have suffered an injury-in-fact which is a concrete, particularized, and actual or imminent invasion of a legally protected interest[; s]econd, a causal connection must exist between the injury and the challenged conduct[; and t]hird, it must be likely that a favorable decision will redress the injury." Carnival Corp. v. Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Ass'n, 407 S.C. 67, 75, 753 S.E.2d 846, 850 (2014) (citing Sea Pines Ass'n for the Prot. of Wildlife v. S.C. Dep't of Natural Res., 345 S.C. 594, 600–01, 550 S.E.2d 287, 291–92 (2001) ("The party seeking to establish standing carries the burden of demonstrating

each of the three elements.”)). Even if a party shows a concrete and particularized injury, such proof is not enough to establish standing. The party must also show "causation" (i.e., that those injuries are traceable to the challenged conduct of the defendant), as well as put forward a sufficient showing of the likelihood that a favorable decision of the court would redress the injuries.

Before this Court, Petitioners can do neither because they did not appeal the ALC’s analysis and express holdings regarding the causation and redressability of their alleged injuries at all. See ALC Order at 11-13 (R.pp.000087-89). Consequently, even if this Court were to agree with Petitioners that they have presented a cognizable injury-in-fact, Petitioners’ failure to appeal from the ALC’s additional adverse holdings on causation and redressability precludes this Court from reaching the issue of standing. Robinson v. Estate of Harris, 388 S.C. 616, 627, 698 S.E.2d 214, 220 (2010) ("where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals *all* grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case") (emphasis added); Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 662, 594 S.E.2d 462, 471 (2004) (An "unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is law the of the case") (citing State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001); Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”); Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) (“Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.”); see also Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”). Significantly, the two-issue rule “is applicable under []circumstances on appeal [other than general jury verdicts], including affirmance of orders of trial courts ... if the plaintiff failed to appeal [all] grounds or if one of the grounds

required affirmance.” Anderson v. S.C. Dep’t of Highways & Pub. Transp., 322 S.C. 417, 420, 472 S.E.2d 253, 255 (1996).

Here, the ALC’s finding that Petitioners lacked standing was based alternatively upon the independent grounds and holdings listed in the Order Granting Summary Judgment for Lack of Standing; namely that Petitioners failed to demonstrate *any* of the three elements of standing.⁴ Petitioners’ failure to appeal the causation and redressability elements of standing from the ALC’s Order means that those grounds independently support the ALC’s Order and this Court is precluded from addressing Petitioners’ standing arguments.

For the reasons listed herein, the two-issue rule precludes this Court’s consideration of the standing challenge because the Petitioners failed to seek this Court’s review of the adverse “causation” and “redressability” holdings of the ALC, rendering those issues the law of the case.

IV. The Court of Appeals correctly determined the issue of collateral estoppel regarding standing.

The Court of Appeals correctly recognized the discretionary nature of collateral estoppel and correctly affirmed the ALC’s rejection of Petitioners’ collateral estoppel claim as to standing. Contrary to Petitioners’ argument (Pet. Brief at 30-34), the Opinion correctly holds that the issue of standing as it pertains to this case was not actually litigated before the federal district court. Petitioners had the burden of establishing that the federal court actually litigated the issue of their

⁴ The ALC stated the following in the Standing Order regarding the three elements: (1) "this Court finds Petitioners have failed to show an injury-in-fact under Lujan for the purpose of establishing standing" (R.000087); (2) "[e]ven if Petitioners were able to show an injury-in-fact, this Court finds they cannot satisfy the second element of the Lujan test, which requires 'a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of—the injury has to be 'fairly...trace[able] to the challenged action of the defendant, and not ... th[e] result [of] the independent action of some third party not before the court.' Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 (quoting Simon v. E. Ky. Welfare Rights Org., 426 U.S. 26, 41-42 (1976))." (R.000087); and (3) "there is no evidence before this Court that the denial of the permit in this case would redress Petitioners’ alleged potential injuries." (R.000089).

Article III standing, but Petitioners failed to make any showing to meet that burden. Therefore, there can be no collateral estoppel. Accordingly, this Court should find in favor of the Respondents.

V. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the ALC did not abuse its discretion in imposing sanctions against Petitioners for advancing a frivolous motion.

Reversal of the Court of Appeals' determination that the ALC did not abuse its discretion in sanctioning Petitioners is not warranted for the following reasons.

- a. Petitioners' arguments regarding the merits of their motion to remand are unpreserved, as Petitioners did not appeal from the Remand Order.

Petitioners' appeal of the ALC's imposition of sanctions is based entirely on the claimed reasonableness of the arguments that they advanced in the motion to remand. Pet. Brief at 35. However, Petitioners did not appeal the Remand Order that denied the motion to remand—or the ALC's construction of § 44-1-60(F)—despite the fact that the Order expressly rejected the reasonableness of Petitioners' construction of the statute. (R.pp.000009-11). Petitioners were required to appeal the Remand Order because the findings in that order formed the basis of the Sanctions Order that they now want to challenge. See Ferguson v. Charleston Lincoln Mercury, Inc., 349 S.C. 558, 565, 564 S.E.2d 94, 98 (2002). Because they did not, the Remand Order's findings now are the law of the case. See Atl. Coast Builders, 398 S.C. at 329, 730 S.E.2d at 285 (“[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”). Petitioners are therefore unable to challenge the ALC's construction of § 44-1-60(F), which determined, inter alia, that subsection (F) “obviously recognizes the existence of discretion,” and the DHEC “Board could not decline to do a mandatory act,” (R.p.000011), thus requiring affirmance of the ALC's imposition of sanctions.

b. The motion to remand was unreasonable and warranted the imposition of sanctions.

Even if the Court were inclined to allow Petitioners to make arguments contrary to the ALC's holdings from the unappealed Remand Order, Petitioners' argument that § 44-1-60(F) requires a mandatory final review conference is patently unreasonable given the plain language of the statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(F) provides as follows:

No later than sixty calendar days after the date of receipt of a request for final review, a final review conference must be conducted by the board, its designee, or a committee of three members of the board appointed by the chair. **If the board declines in writing to schedule a final review conference or if a final review conference is not conducted within sixty calendar days, the staff decision becomes the final agency decision, and an applicant, permittee, licensee, or affected person requests pursuant to subsection (G) a contested case hearing before the Administrative Law Court.** The department shall set the place, date, and time for the conference; give the applicant and affected persons at least ten calendar days' written notice of the conference; and advise the applicant that evidence may be presented at the conference.

§ 44-1-60(F) (Emphasis added). Not only does the statute contemplate the DHEC Board's discretion to decline review of a staff decision, it specifically provides for it. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(G)(1) also expressly recognizes the DHEC Board's discretion to decline to conduct a final review conference, providing the notice procedures that are required when "the board decline[s] to hold a final review conference." See Gordon v. Phillips Utilities, Inc., 362 S.C. 403, 406, 608 S.E.2d 425, 427 (2005) ("[T]he legislature intends to accomplish something by its choice of words, and would not do a futile thing.").

Further, although Petitioners now assert that "the meaning of the language at issue here has never been litigated before this case," Pet. Brief at 36, that statement is demonstrably incorrect. Both the ALC and the appellate courts of this state have expressly recognized the Board's discretion to decline to conduct a final review conference. The following ALC cases have

addressed the language at issue in § 44-1-60(F): Trident Medical Center, LLC, v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, Docket Nos. 09-ALJ-07-0332-CC, 09-ALJ-07-0333-CC (Consolidated), 09-ALJ-07-0336-CC (Consolidated), 2012 WL 7187635, (Sept. 26, 2012) (J. McLeod) ("If the Department Board does not hold a final review conference, the staff decision becomes the final agency decision unless an applicant or affected person timely requests a contested case hearing before the Administrative Law Court."); Wise v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, Docket No. 10-ALJ-07-0851-CC, 2011 WL 2413274 (Feb. 23, 2011) (J. McLeod) ("The Board can either conduct a review conference and issue a final agency decision, or decline to conduct a review conference, in which case the staff decision becomes the final agency decision.") (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(F)), rev'd on other grounds Op. No. 2013-UP-072 (Ct. App. Filed Feb. 13, 2013); Hill v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, Docket No. 10-ALJ-07-0625-CC, 2010 WL 5781666, (Dec. 9, 2010) (J. Anderson) ("The DHEC Board [] has sixty days within which to hold a review conference. [] The Board *may* (1) hold a final review conference and issue a decision; (2) decline in writing to hold a final review conference; or (3) take no action within the sixty-day period. [] If the Board either declines in writing to schedule a final review conference or allows the sixty days to lapse without any action, then the staff decision becomes the final agency decision and an affected party may request a contested case hearing before the ALC pursuant to Section 44-1-60(0).") (emphasis added) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(F)); Pinckney Point, LLC v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, Docket No. 08-ALJ-07-0363-CC, 2009 WL 6527323, (Nov. 13, 2009) (J. Anderson) ("A staff review does not require the presentation of evidence in a hearing, and *the Board's review is discretionary, not a matter of right.*") (emphasis added) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(F)).

The DHEC Board's discretionary right to conduct a final review conference has also been recognized by multiple appellate courts of this State. See e.g., Murphy v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 396 S.C. 633, 723 S.E.2d 191 (2012) (noting the DHEC Board declined to hold a final review conference rendering the staff decision the final decision); Town of Arcadia Lakes v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, No. 2010-159446 (March 6, 2013) (noting the DHEC Board declined to hold a final review conference allowing the case to proceed to the ALC).

Accordingly, the ALC was correct to find that Petitioner's motion to remand was unreasonable. In support of its determination, the ALC made three factual findings supported by reference to the statute, case law, and other pertinent materials: "Given [1] the clear statutory language, [2] the case law directly recognizing the discretionary nature of DHEC Board review and [3] prior affirmations by Petitioners, a reasonable attorney under these circumstances would not have filed the Motion to Remand." Sanctions Order at 6 (R. p. 000074). None of these findings are challenged by Petitioners on appeal. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal's affirmation of the imposition of sanctions should not be reversed.

VI. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Petitioners are not entitled to relief from the denial of the motion to re-open discovery.

As an initial matter, Petitioners' challenge to the ALC's denial of their motion to re-open and expand discovery is not reviewable because the ALC expressly vacated the order. Standing Order at 19 n.23 (R. p. 000095) ("Therefore, the Order denying Petitioners' Motion to Expand Discovery is vacated."). Consequently, there is no order from which Petitioners can appeal. See Webster v. Clanton, 259 S.C. 387, 391, 192 S.E.2d 214, 216 (1972) (holding that custody order issued without notice "was clearly void, and of no effect whatever and no appeal therefrom was necessary to protect the rights of the father"). The attempted appeal from the Discovery Order should therefore be dismissed. Leviner v. Sonoco Products Co., 339 S.C. 492, 494, 530 S.E.2d

127, 128 (2000) (holding that the Court of Appeals should have dismissed an appeal from a void order).

Petitioners wholly ignore the ALC's vacatur of the Discovery Order and additional finding that the discovery issue was moot. Standing Order at 19 n.23 (R. p. 000095) (“[I]n light of the disposition of the summary judgment motion, the Motion for Expanded Discovery is moot and is thus denied.”). Thus, Petitioners have abandoned the discovery issue by limiting their argument to the Discovery Order alone and failing to address the subsequent actions by the ALC. Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P’ship, 312 S.C. 102, 439 S.E.2d 283 (Ct. App. 1993).

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